
From: Emily Brill
To: Haight, Kelly
Subject: Public Records Request - The Canine Review
Date: Wednesday, August 12, 2020 9:44:49 AM
Importance: High

Dear Ms. Haight,

Under the North Carolina Public Records Law, G.S. §132-1., I am requesting an
opportunity to inspect or obtain copies of public records that refer to the case involving the
dog in the press release issued by NCDHHS on August 11, 2020
[https://www.ncdhhs.gov/news/press-releases/north-carolina-has-first-reported-sars-cov-
2-positive-case-dog]. Specifically, I am requesting a copy of the necropsy, notes,
photographs, and email communications between state veterinarian Dr. Carl
Williams and/or current members of the North Carolina Veterinary Medical
Board and/or NCDHHS and any individuals at the CDC, USDA-APHIS, and/or
NC State Veterinary Hospital.

I am seeking any documents in any format that refer to information about the pathology,
necropsy, physical symptoms/state of health at the time the dog was diagnosed
as positive for COVID-19, age, gender, breed, underlying health conditions,
and other relevant information about the dog now deceased and confirmed as having
contracted COVID-19.

I am the editor and founder of The Canine Review; as a member of the news media, this
request is for urgent news gathering purposes.   If there are any fees for searching or
copying these records, please inform me if the cost will exceed $200.  However, I would also
like to request a waiver of all fees in that the disclosure of the requested information is in
the public interest and will contribute significantly to the public’s understanding of how
COVID-19 affects domestic pets.

The law requires that you respond to and fulfill this request "as promptly as possible."  If
you expect a significant delay of more than a week in responding to and fulfilling this
request, please contact me with information about when I might expect copies or the ability
to inspect the requested records.

If you believe a portion but not all of the records that I have requested are not disclosable
under the law, please supply those that are required to be disclosed under the Public
Records Law. If you deny any or all of this request, please cite each specific exemption you
have determined justifies the refusal to release the information and notify me of the appeal
procedures available to me under the law.

Thank you for considering my request.

Sincerely,

Emily Brill

Emily J. Brill
Editor and Publisher
The Canine Review
https://www.thecaninereview.com
Follow TCR on Twitter
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From: Emily Brill
To: openrecords@agr.georgia.gov; Cortney.Kiser@agr.georgia.gov
Cc: Janemarie.Hennebelle@agr.georgia.gov; Nydam, Nancy; Davis, Terrell
Subject: The Canine Review - Open Records Request
Date: Thursday, August 13, 2020 10:14:41 AM
Importance: High

Dear Public Records Officer,

Under Georgia’s “Sunshine Laws,” which consist of the Open Meetings Act (O.C.G.A. §§ 50-
14-1 through 6) and the Open Records Act (O.C.G.A. § 50-18-70 through 77), I am
requesting an opportunity to inspect or obtain copies of public records that refer to the case
involving the dog in the press release issued by Georgia’s DPH on July 1, 2020
[https://dph.georgia.gov/press-releases/2020-07-01/dog-georgia-tests-positive-virus-
causes-covid-19].

Specifically, I am requesting a copy of the necropsy, notes, photographs, and email
communications between state veterinarians Dr. Janemarie Hennebelle, Dr.
Robert M. Cobb, Jr., and/or representatives of the Georgia State Board of
Veterinary Medicine and/or representatives of Georgia’s Department of Public
Health and/or Department of Agriculture and any individuals at the Centers
for Disease Control and Prevention, USDA-APHIS, and/or the University of
Georgia’s College of Veterinary Medicine or its Veterinary Teaching Hospital.

I am seeking records in any format that refer to pathology, necropsy, physical
symptoms/state of health at the time the dog was diagnosed as positive for COVID-19, the
dog’s underlying health condition(s), and other relevant health information about this case.

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
under the law, please supply those that are required to be disclosed under the Open Records
Law. If you deny any or all of this request, please cite each specific exemption you have
determined justifies the refusal to release the information and notify me of the appeal
procedures available to me under the law.

Thank you for considering my request.

Sincerely,

Emily Brill
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Editor and Publisher
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Dear FOIL Officer, 

Under New York's Freedom of Information Law, I am requesting an opportunity to 

inspect or obtain copies of public records that refer to the case involving ‘Buddy’ the 

German Shepherd dog, the first dog to test positive for COVID-19 that was recently 

profiled in National Geographic 

[https://www.nationalgeographic.com/animals/2020/07/first-dog-to-test-positive-for-

covid-in-us-dies/ ]: “Buddy, first dog to test positive for COVID-19 in the U.S., has died.” 

I am attaching that report with my FOIL request here. 

Specifically, I am requesting copies of any and all notes, reports, photographs, and email 

communications between New York City Department of Health officials and/or any 

officials at the New York Department of Agriculture (including the NY state 

veterinarian), and/or any individuals at the CDC, and/or any individuals at the U.S. 

Department of Agriculture and/or communications with Dr. Robert Cohen of Bay Street 

Animal Hospital. 

Note: According to the National Geographic report, veterinarian Robert Cohen "says he 

had three or four conversations with the New York City Health Department and the 

USDA about Buddy and whether COVID-19 could be related to any of his health 

problems"; thus, whether veterinary medical records are the property of the dogs' 

owners is moot because information and presumably documents have already been 

released to the government and to at least one news organization (National Geographic), 

at which point the information became public record since the communications with 

government officials are public record and the medical information is not covered by 

HIPAA. 

TCR FOIL REQUEST  - NYC DEPT. OF HEALTH 8/12/2020 



 
I am seeking records in any format that refer to pathology, necropsy, physical 

symptoms/state of health at the time the dog was diagnosed as positive for COVID-19, 

the dog’s underlying health condition(s), including the suspected lymphoma, and other 

relevant health information about the dog that is now deceased and confirmed by New 

York State and by the USDA as having contracted COVID-19.  

 

I am the editor and founder of The Canine Review; as a member of the news media, this 

request is for urgent news gathering purposes.   If there are any fees for searching or 

copying these records, please inform me if the cost will exceed $200.  However, I would 

also like to request a waiver of all fees in that the disclosure of the requested information 

is in the public interest and will contribute significantly to the public’s understanding of 

how COVID-19 affects domestic pets.  

 

The law requires that you respond to and fulfill this request "as promptly as possible."  If 

you expect a significant delay of more than a week in responding to and fulfilling this 

request, please contact me with information about when I might expect copies or the 

ability to inspect the requested records. 

 

If you believe a portion but not all the records that I have requested are not disclosable 

under the law, please supply those that are required to be disclosed under the Freedom 

of Information Law. If you deny any or all of this request, please cite each specific 

exemption you have determined justifies the refusal to release the information and 

notify me of the appeal procedures available to me under the law. 

 

Thank you for considering my request. 



 
 

Sincerely, 

Emily Brill 

 

 

Emily J. Brill 

Editor and Publisher 

The Canine Review 

https://www.thecaninereview.com 

917-297-3537 

emily@thecaninereview.com 
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From: Emily Brill
To: bparr@clemson.edu
Subject: FW: [External] The Canine Review - public records request
Date: Wednesday, August 12, 2020 4:35:26 PM
Importance: High

Dear Dr. Parr,
I’m writing to you on the advice of Alden Terry (we just spoke by phone), the general
counsel for South Carolina’s Department of Agriculture. Alden suggested that I submit this
public records request to you. Please see below and thanks very much in advance.

Best regards,
Emily Brill

Emily J. Brill
Editor and Publisher
The Canine Review
https://www.thecaninereview.com
Follow TCR on Twitter
Like TCR on Facebook
917-297-3537

From: Emily Brill 
Sent: Wednesday, August 12, 2020 4:25 PM
To: Terry, Alden <aterry@scda.sc.gov>
Cc: Moore, Eva <emoore@scda.sc.gov>; Leach, Clint <jcleach@scda.sc.gov>; bparr@clemson.edu
Subject: RE: [External] The Canine Review - public records request

Dear Alden,
There seems to be some confusion. Perhaps we can get on the phone, but if the records are
not held by Dr. Parr, then what was he basing his comments on? He was the lead authority
in your press release.  Dr. Parr is the state veterinarian and director of Clemson LPH which
is a state regulatory agency; thus his office and the records including necropsy he was
basing his public commentary on are custody of your department. If not, which notes from
which agency or entity was Dr. Parr referring to?
It says so in your press release:

“Clemson LPH, a state regulatory agency, is part of the university’s Public Service and
Agriculture unit. Its mission is to protect animal health by controlling endemic,
foreign and emerging diseases in livestock and poultry and to protect the health of
S.C. consumers by inspecting meat and poultry products to ensure they are safe,
wholesome and accurately labeled.

Its Veterinary Diagnostic Center in Columbia assists veterinarians, the animal
industry and animal owners by identifying diseases that affect livestock, poultry,
companion animals and wildlife. The center is an integral part of a disease
surveillance system that helps ensure a safe and adequate food supply and protects
the health of South Carolinians.”

Thanks again,
Emily
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Emily J. Brill
Editor and Publisher
The Canine Review
https://www.thecaninereview.com
Follow TCR on Twitter
Like TCR on Facebook
917-297-3537

 
From: Terry, Alden <aterry@scda.sc.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, August 12, 2020 3:56 PM
To: Emily Brill <emily@thecaninereview.com>
Cc: Moore, Eva <emoore@scda.sc.gov>; Leach, Clint <jcleach@scda.sc.gov>; bparr@clemson.edu
Subject: Re: [External] The Canine Review - public records request
 
Emily, 
 
That makes complete sense, and now I understand why you reached out to us. Still, the subject of
your request is outside the scope of what we as an agency are charged with. We do not have
custody of any records (tests, pathology, reports) that Dr. Parr could have used to base his
conclusions/analysis on. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Alden 

Alden G. Terry 
General Counsel
 
South Carolina Department of Agriculture
1200 Senate Street  |  Wade Hampton Building, 5th Floor
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Office: 803-734-2225  |  Cell: 803-413-8894
aterry@scda.sc.gov  |  agriculture.sc.gov  |  Facebook
 

 

On Aug 12, 2020, at 3:29 PM, Emily Brill <emily@thecaninereview.com> wrote:

Hi Alden,
Thanks very much. S.C. state veterinarian Boyd Parr offered a fair amount of
commentary in the public domain on this case, including in the recent National
Geographic report. I am seeking any and all records that Dr. Parr is basing his
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conclusions and analysis on. Those records are presumably in the S.C. state vet’s
custody. I am filing a request with USDA-APHIS, too, but having already gone to them
about other states, I know that their position is that the records are not in their custody
but, rather, with the states.
A necropsy, for example, along with any tests, pathology, reports, would have taken
place in South Carolina. The USDA’s only role is confirming the COVID-19 testing.
 
Best,
Emily
 
Emily J. Brill
Editor and Publisher
The Canine Review
https://www.thecaninereview.com
Follow TCR on Twitter
Like TCR on Facebook
917-297-3537
 
From: Terry, Alden <aterry@scda.sc.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, August 12, 2020 3:19 PM
To: Emily Brill <emily@thecaninereview.com>
Cc: Moore, Eva <emoore@scda.sc.gov>; Leach, Clint <jcleach@scda.sc.gov>
Subject: Re: [External] The Canine Review - public records request
 
Hi Emily,  
 
I hope you’re well. The press release you refer in your public information request to
was actually in conjuncture with the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) National
Veterinary Services Laboratories, not the South Carolina Department of Agriculture
(SCDA). Easy mistake to make, but accordingly we do not have any sort of records on
that particular dog or the incident. Veterinary Services is definitely outside the
wheelhouse of what we do here at SCDA. Let me know if you have any questions or
need more information. 
 
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
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On Aug 12, 2020, at 2:39 PM, Emily Brill <emily@thecaninereview.com> wrote:
 
Dear Eva,
Terrific. Thanks very much for the quick reply.
 
Best,
Emily
 
Emily J. Brill
Editor and Publisher
The Canine Review
https://www.thecaninereview.com
Follow TCR on Twitter
Like TCR on Facebook
917-297-3537
 
From: Moore, Eva <emoore@scda.sc.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, August 12, 2020 2:38 PM
To: Emily Brill <emily@thecaninereview.com>
Cc: Terry, Alden <aterry@scda.sc.gov>
Subject: RE: [External] The Canine Review - public records request
 
Hello, Emily. I’m copying Alden Terry, general counsel for our agency, who handles
FOIA requests.
 
Thanks,
Eva
 
Eva Moore
Communications Director
South Carolina Department of Agriculture
Office: 803-734-2196
 
From: Emily Brill <emily@thecaninereview.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, August 12, 2020 2:21 PM
To: Moore, Eva <emoore@scda.sc.gov>
Subject: [External] The Canine Review - public records request
Importance: High
 
Dear Ms. Moore,
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Under South Carolina’s Freedom of Information Act, §30-4-10 et seq., I am requesting
an opportunity to inspect or obtain copies of public records that refer to the dog – an
‘8 or 9 year-old shepherd mix’ –  in a July 16, 2020 press release issued by South
Carolina’s Department of Agriculture in conjunction with state veterinarian Dr. Boyd
Parr and Clemson Livestock Poultry Health (LPH): “S.C. dog confirmed with SARS-CoV-2
virus that causes COVID-19” [https://newsstand.clemson.edu/mediarelations/s-c-dog-
confirmed-with-sars-cov-2-virus-that-causes-covid-19/].
 
Specifically, I am requesting copies of any and all notes, reports, photographs, and
email communications that refer to this case between South Carolina Department of
Agriculture officials, including any officials or representatives of Clemson Livestock
Poultry Health (LPH), S.C.’s Department of Health and Environmental Control
(DHEC), and/or state veterinarian Dr. Boyd Parr and/or the Public Service and
Agriculture Unit and any communications between the aforementioned parties and any
representatives of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and/or any
individuals with the U.S. Department of Agriculture Animal and Plant Health Inspection
Service, as well as communications between any of these government officials and
entities and non-government individuals such as private veterinarians.
 
I am seeking records, notes, or additional information in any format that refers
to pathology, necropsy, physical symptoms/state of health at the time the dog was
diagnosed as positive for COVID-19, the dog’s underlying health condition(s), and other
relevant health information about the dog that is now deceased.
 
I am the editor and founder of The Canine Review; as a member of the news media,
this request is for urgent news gathering purposes.   If there are any fees for searching
or copying these records, please inform me if the cost will exceed $200.  However, I
would also like to request a waiver of all fees in that the disclosure of the requested
information is in the public interest and will contribute significantly to the public’s
understanding of how COVID-19 affects domestic pets.
 
The law requires that you respond to and fulfill this request "as promptly as possible."
 If you expect a significant delay of more than a week in responding to and fulfilling this
request, please contact me with information about when I might expect copies or the
ability to inspect the requested records.
 
If you believe a portion but not all the records that I have requested are not disclosable
under the law, please supply those that are required to be disclosed under the South
Carolina’s Freedom of Information Act. If you deny any or all of this request, please cite
each specific exemption you have determined justifies the refusal to release the
information and notify me of the appeal procedures available to me under the law.
 
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
To: USDAFOIA@usda.gov; FOIA.Officer@aphis.usda.gov
Cc: Cole, Lyndsay M - APHIS; Hayden, Joelle R - APHIS
Subject: The Canine Review - USDA-APHIS Records Request
Date: Wednesday, August 12, 2020 4:13:47 PM
Attachments: Nat Geo article referred to in FOIA.pdf
Importance: High

Dear Public Records Officer,

Under the U.S. Freedom of Information Act, I am requesting an opportunity to inspect or
obtain copies of public records in the custody of USDA – APHIS, including the National
Veterinary Services Laboratories, that relate to or refer to any of the following four cases
which I will describe in detail below.

I am requesting copies of any and all notes, reports, veterinary records, laboratory test
results, test analyses, photographs, and email communications that refer to any of the four
cases involving the dogs listed here and described in more detail below:
https://www.aphis.usda.gov/aphis/ourfocus/animalhealth/sa_one_health/sars-cov-2-
animals-us.

Those four dogs are
1. Dog #1 Buddy, German Shepherd (Staten Island, New York) tested

positive for COVID on June 1, 2020; died on July 11
I am seeking records, including email communications, that refer to “Buddy,” who
was owned by Robert and Allison Mahoney. Buddy was the first dog to test positive
for COVID. I am seeking USDA communications that refer to “Buddy.” I am
particularly interested in communications with New York City Department of Health
officials and/or any officials at the New York Department of Agriculture (including
the NY state veterinarian), and/or any individuals at the CDC, and/or
communications with Dr. Robert Cohen of Bay Street Animal Hospital. Note:
According to the National Geographic report (attached), veterinarian Robert Cohen
"says he had three or four conversations with the New York City Health Department
and the USDA about Buddy and whether COVID-19 could be related to any of his
health problems"; thus, this report says veterinary records and other information,
presumably documents, have been provided to USDA officials which make the
records public by virtue of the fact that the communications are public record.
I am seeking records in any format that refer to pathology, necropsy, physical
symptoms/state of health at the time the dog was diagnosed as positive for COVID-
19, the dog’s underlying health condition(s), including the suspected lymphoma, and
other relevant health information about the dog that is now deceased and confirmed
by New York State and by the USDA as having contracted COVID-19.

2. Dog #2 “Name Unknown” (Georgia) tested positive for COVID-19 on July
1, 2020

I am requesting an opportunity to inspect or obtain copies of public records in the
custody of USDA-APHIS that refer to the case involving the dog in the press release
issued by Georgia’s DPH in conjunction with USDA and CDC on July 1, 2020
[https://dph.georgia.gov/press-releases/2020-07-01/dog-georgia-tests-positive-
virus-causes-covid-19].

TCR RECORDS REQUEST - USDA APHIS 8/12/2020
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8/12/2020 Exclusive: Buddy, first dog to test positive for COVID-19 in the U.S., has died


https://www.nationalgeographic.com/animals/2020/07/first-dog-to-test-positive-for-covid-in-us-dies/#close 1/12


https://www.nationalgeographic.com/animals/2020/07/first-dog-to-test-
positive-for-covid-in-us-dies.html


© 1996-2015 National Geographic Society, © 2015- 2020 National Geographic
Partners, LLC. All rights reserved


A N I M A L S C O RO N AV I R U S  C OV E R AG E


Exclusive: Buddy, first dog to test positive for COVID-
19 in the U.S., has died
Even though the German shepherd likely had cancer, his health records
show how little we know about animals and the coronavirus.


B Y  N ATA S H A  DA LY
P H OTO G R A P H S  B Y  K H O L O O D  E I D


P U B L I S H E D  J U LY  2 9,  2 0 2 0


Buddy liked dog stuff: running through the sprinklers, going on long car rides,


swimming in the lake. He cuddled the Mahoneys—his owners and family—at the


end of tough days. He humored them when they dressed him up as a bunny for


Halloween. He was a protective big brother to 10-month-old Duke, the family’s


other German shepherd. He loved everyone. He lived up to his name.


In mid-April, right before his seventh birthday, Buddy began struggling to


breathe.


You have 2 free articles left this month.Subscribe now and get a free tote.
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8/12/2020 Exclusive: Buddy, first dog to test positive for COVID-19 in the U.S., has died


https://www.nationalgeographic.com/animals/2020/07/first-dog-to-test-positive-for-covid-in-us-dies/#close 2/12


Six weeks later, he became the first dog in the United States to be confirmed


positive for SARS-CoV-2, the coronavirus that causes COVID-19. On July 11,


Buddy died.


Medical records provided by the Mahoneys and reviewed for National


Geographic by two veterinarians who were not involved in his treatment indicate


that Buddy likely had lymphoma, a type of cancer, which would explain the


symptoms he suffered just before his death. The Mahoneys didn’t learn that


lymphoma was being considered as the probable cause of his symptoms until the


day of his death, they say, when additional bloodwork results confirmed it. It’s


unclear whether cancer made him more susceptible to contracting the


coronavirus, or if the virus was responsible for any of his symptoms, or if it was


just a case of coincidental timing. Buddy’s family, like thousands of families


grappling with the effects of the coronavirus around the world, is left with many


questions and few answers.


Until now, Buddy’s identity, the details of his case, and his death were not


public. A press release issued by the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) in


early June revealed his general location (Staten Island, New York), his breed


(German shepherd), his likely source of transmission (a COVID-positive owner),


and his status (expected to recover). Public records for the few other pets to have


tested positive in the U.S. are similarly sparse.


Upon announcement, Buddy’s milestone case appeared fairly open and shut, but


the Mahoneys’ experience over the two and a half months between their dog’s


first wheeze and his death was one of confusion and heartbreak. Their story puts


a spotlight on the rare experience of being an owner of COVID-positive pet—a


distinction shared by only a handful of individuals around the world. While


more than four million people have been diagnosed with COVID-19 in the U.S.,You have 2 free articles left this month.Subscribe now and get a free tote.
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fewer than 25 pets have. There’s no rubric for how to navigate COVID-19 in your


pet dog.


“You tell people that your dog was positive, and they look at you [as if you have]


ten heads,” Allison Mahoney says. “[Buddy] was the love of our lives….He


brought joy to everybody. I can’t wrap my head around it.” The Mahoneys say


they are frustrated that health experts didn’t more closely probe possible


connections between COVID and the cascading health problems. After Buddy’s


diagnosis, Allison’s husband, Robert, asked New York City veterinary health


officials, who were in charge of the case, whether they were interested in doing


more testing on Buddy. Robert Mahoney says the officials never asked for


further testing or exams.


The New York City Department of Health told National Geographic that because


Buddy was severely anemic, it did not want to collect additional blood out of


concern for the dog’s health, and that confirmation results indicate it was


unlikely that he was still shedding virus—meaning he was probably no longer


contagious—by May 20, when he was tested the second time. Buddy wasn’t


tested after that date.


For humans, the signs and symptoms of infection vary widely. In some, its


presence is barely a flicker. In others, it causes total organ failure. For many, it’s


somewhere in between. Having an underlying medical condition increases


susceptibility, doctors think. We’re learning more every day.


The narrative for the coronavirus in animals, however, has so far been consistent


and narrow: They are rarely affected. When they do get the virus, it’s almost


always from an owner. They have mild symptoms. They usually recover.


In reality, little is known about how the virus affects the typical pet dog.You have 2 free articles left this month.Subscribe now and get a free tote.
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The Mahoneys’ detailed accounts and Buddy’s veterinary records now comprise


some of the most comprehensive and granular information the public has on an


infected animal. Their story also sheds light on the gaps in public knowledge


regarding animals and the novel coronavirus, highlighting what may be a need


for a more unified, consistent approach to monitoring and investigating positive


cases, and bringing that information back to the research community.


Buddy’s decline
When Buddy, who’d never been sick, developed thick mucus in his nose and


started breathing heavily in April, no one except Robert Mahoney believed the


dog might have COVID-19. Mahoney himself had been suffering through the


virus for three weeks—he was weak, had a scratchy throat, and had lost his sense


of taste. “They called me on Easter and said, ‘By the way, here’s your Easter gift:


you’re positive,’ ” he recalls.


“Without a shadow of a doubt, I thought [Buddy] was positive” too, he says.


At first, it was difficult to find someone to examine Buddy. His usual vet wasn’t


seeing patients because of the pandemic. Another local clinic wouldn’t allow


Robert Mahoney to come into the office because he had COVID-19, so they


prescribed Buddy antibiotics over the phone. Mahoney says the vet was skeptical


that Buddy might have the coronavirus, and the office didn’t have test kits


anyway.


The next week, Buddy was still struggling to breathe and had lost his appetite, so


the Mahoneys’ 13-year-old daughter, Julianna, who had tested negative, was


permitted to bring the dog into the office.


From April 21 to May 15, Buddy continued to lose weight. He became


increasingly lethargic. The Mahoneys took him to three different veterinariansYou have 2 free articles left this month.Subscribe now and get a free tote.
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on Staten Island, none of whom thought the coronavirus was likely. He got an


ultrasound and X-rays, which indicated an enlarged spleen and liver, and he saw


a cardiologist, who detected a heart murmur. Buddy spent two and a half weeks


on antibiotics and two heart medications, and he was subsequently put on


steroids. At this point, Robert Mahoney says, Buddy’s doctors were still doubtful


he had the coronavirus, and they had not yet identified lymphoma as a probable


cause of his illness.


It was at the third veterinary clinic, Bay Street Animal Hospital, where Mahoney


was finally able to have Buddy tested for COVID-19. That was on May 15, one


month after Buddy’s breathing trouble began.


A few days later, the clinic called. Buddy’s test results were in: He was positive.


Mahoney was told to bring both the family’s dogs to the clinic immediately


because health officials needed to confirm Buddy’s results and test Duke, their


puppy. When Mahoney arrived at the clinic with the dogs on May 20, he says


that “they came greeting me looking like space martians with hazmat suits.”


“For us it was a shock factor for a moment there...how do we protect our staff?”


says Robert Cohen, veterinarian at Bay Street who treated Buddy, because little


is known about infected dogs’ ability to transfer the virus to other dogs or


humans. “We were well-PPE’d,” he says, referring to personal protective


equipment such as masks and gloves.


Officials collected samples from Buddy and Duke, then sent them home.


First dog to test positive
On June 2, the New York City Department of Health called Mahoney to tell him


that Buddy had indeed contracted the virus. They confirmed that Buddy’s


original samples collected on May 15 by his vet were positive for SARS-CoV-2,You have 2 free articles left this month.Subscribe now and get a free tote.
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but the additional samples they collected on May 20 were negative, indicating


that the virus was no longer present in the dog’s body, a department


spokesperson told National Geographic. Duke had tested negative, but he did


have antibodies, indicating he had been infected at some point.


Yet Buddy’s health continued to decline. He soon started urinating


uncontrollably and had blood in his urine. Later that month, his breathing


became so labored that it sounded “like a freight train,” Allison Mahoney says.


In early July, Buddy began to have trouble walking.


Robert Mahoney took him back to the vet each time his health seemed to get


worse, which was about every two weeks. He and Allison say they were surprised


that no one seemed to consider that the coronavirus—though no longer in his


system—may have had lasting effects on Buddy’s health.


“If [health officials] had said, ‘Mahoney family, get in the car and come to [a


veterinary lab],’ I would have done it,” says Allison, Nobody even mentioned it.”


Cohen, the veterinarian at Bay Street Animal Clinic, said that his team’s focus


was on treating Buddy’s symptoms. “We know that we had a very sick patient,”


he says, adding that the clinic was only “peripherally involved in the [SARS-CoV-


2] case in a lot of ways.”


He says he had three or four conversations with the New York City Health


Department and the USDA about Buddy and whether COVID-19 could be


related to any of his health problems. “We had zero knowledge or experience


with the scientific basis of COVID in dogs,” he says. Even with all the experts on


one call, he says, “there was a lot of silence on the phone. I don’t think anybody


knew. I really don’t think anybody knew at that point.”
You have 2 free articles left this month.Subscribe now and get a free tote.
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On the morning of July 11, Allison found Buddy in the kitchen throwing up


clotted blood. “It looked like it was his insides coming out. He had it all over. It


was coming from his nose and mouth. We knew there was nothing that could be


done for him from there. What are you going to do for a dog with this? But he


had the will to live. He didn’t want to go.”


She and her husband rushed Buddy to the vet, and they made the decision to


euthanize him. No one asked Robert about a necropsy, he says—only if he


wanted to do cremation or a burial. He chose to have Buddy cremated. Although


that day was a blur, he says he knows that if he’d been asked about a necropsy to


learn more about the virus in his body, “I would have said, ‘Take whatever you


need,’ because I don’t want any other dog to suffer like he did.”


After Buddy’s death, Cohen says he asked the New York City Department of


Health whether they needed the dog’s body for any follow-up research. The city


had to consult with the USDA and other federal partners, Cohen says they told


him. By the time the Department of Health got back to him with the decision to


do a necropsy, Buddy had been cremated.


On the day Buddy was euthanized, the vet told Robert that new blood work


results indicated that he almost certainly had lymphoma, which could explain


many of his symptoms.


The Mahoneys say they’re confident the team at Bay Street did their best for


Buddy. They acknowledge that these are uncharted waters for everyone. “I think


they are learning as well. It’s all trial and error. And they tried to help us the best


way they can,” Allison says, although they still wonder whether COVID played a


role in Buddy’s fatal illness.
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Cohen says he personally relates to the Mahoneys’ confusion and heartbreak


because his father died of COVID-19 two weeks ago in a Florida nursing home at


age 94.


“I was unable to see him. And I could say exactly the same criticisms [as the


Mahoneys] about how his case was handled—the people didn’t act fast enough,”


he says. But like the Mahoneys, he acknowledges that “everyone has good


intentions,” grappling with the challenges of treating a horrific, widespread, and


little-understood disease.


Knowledge gaps
Buddy’s case highlights an important question: Are animals with underlying


conditions more likely to get sick from the coronavirus, just as humans are? It


also highlights just how little information is available about infected pets.


Most of what’s known about the coronavirus in companion animals comes from


research done on dogs and cats in labs, says Elizabeth Lennon, a veterinarian


who specializes in internal medicine at the University of Pennsylvania’s School


of Veterinary Medicine, who reviewed Buddy’s medical records for National


Geographic. The coronavirus in dogs and cats in the real world could look and


act differently than in a lab, and that’s what Lennon’s research is trying to


discern.


Despite this being her area of study, Buddy’s vet records were the first she’d seen


of an infected pet. While writing a funding proposal to study the virus in dogs


and cats recently, she says she realized “this is the first time in my life I've ever


written a grant proposal where I’ve cited more press releases and media reports


than actual scientific reports.”


You have 2 free articles left this month.Subscribe now and get a free tote.



https://www.vet.upenn.edu/people/faculty-clinician-search/ELIZABETHLENNON

https://ngmdomsubs.nationalgeographic.com/servlet/OrdersGateway?cds_mag_code=NGM&cds_page_id=243381&cds_response_key=I0BPM0CA0





8/12/2020 Exclusive: Buddy, first dog to test positive for COVID-19 in the U.S., has died


https://www.nationalgeographic.com/animals/2020/07/first-dog-to-test-positive-for-covid-in-us-dies/#close 9/12


Besides the published research on cats and dogs in labs, scientists also have


access to the USDA’s public database of every positive animal case in the U.S.,


with only basic information. The World Organization of Animal Health


maintains a similar database of global cases. The Centers for Disease Control


and Prevention (CDC) has an extensive toolkit on its website that includes a


regularly updated list of known symptoms in animals, but more specific case


data is not currently available to the public or the broader research community.


Twelve dogs and at least 10 cats have tested positive in the U.S. Lennon says few


case details have been made available to researchers. “What are their signs?


How long did they present? What are the blood work changes?” Lennon asks.


(Researchers are scrambling to understand which animals the novel coronavirus


—which is believed to have originated in bats—can infect.)


Experts involved in these cases will likely publish the details in scientific


journals in the next six to 12 months, she says, but while publication of the


scientific research on COVID-19 in humans has generally been fast-tracked, “on


the vet side of things, we haven’t seen that acceleration yet.”


Buddy’s case also highlights the need to take a more holistic look at all the


known cases of infected pets. There has been “no analysis of all cases as a single


unit to determine whether there are risk factors other than living in a house with


a positive human,” says Shelley Rankin, chief of clinical microbiology at the


University of Pennsylvania School of Veterinary Medicine and a colleague of


Lennon’s.


It seems that potentially helpful specific case information isn’t always shared


among state veterinarians either. State veterinarians typically take the lead when


a pet tests positive, and they report details up to the CDC and USDA. Casey


Barton-Bahravesh, director of the CDC’s One Health Office in the National
You have 2 free articles left this month.Subscribe now and get a free tote.
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Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases, says she has a weekly call


with state veterinarians to share what the CDC is learning about the virus in


animals. It’s not clear, however, whether states are learning enough details of


each other’s cases. When National Geographic contacted state veterinarians in


the seven states where dogs have tested positive, several said that each state is


focused on its own cases and communicating directly with the CDC and USDA.


'Cart before the horse'
Lennon says that based on research so far, people can feel fairly confident that


healthy dogs and cats don’t pose a big risk of infection to humans or each other


in most situations. The primary message from the CDC and the World


Organization for Animal Health (OIE) is similar: There is no evidence that


animals play a significant role in the spread of the virus. Because of that, they do


not recommend widespread testing of pets.


That doesn’t necessarily make sense to Rankin, who says that broader testing of


pets would allow public health experts to say with more confidence that pets


aren’t being infected on a broad scale (or playing a significant role in the spread


off the virus). “We’ve sort of put the cart before the horse,” she says. “If we’re


telling the world that prevalence [of animal cases] is low, then we have to look at


high numbers."


It’s not clear how many animals in the U.S. have been tested. The CDC’s Barton-


Bahravesh says her team is working to collect that data, but it’s difficult because


reporting of animal testing is not mandatory.


Lennon says more testing would also shed light on whether animals in certain


circumstances—such as those with underlying conditions—are more likely to


contract the virus or have the virus for longer.
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The second dog to test positive in the U.S., in Georgia, and the sixth dog, in


South Carolina, have both died, for example, and their deaths were attributed to


other conditions. Similar to Buddy’s case, state veterinarian Boyd Parr says that


while there was no compelling evidence that the South Carolina dog’s condition


made it more susceptible to the virus, there also wasn’t enough data to say that it


didn’t.


“Certainly it is likely the underlying condition could weaken the dog’s natural


defenses to a lot of things,” he said in an email.


The CDC’s toolkit includes guidance on caring for and treating a positive pet,


and safety guidelines for caregivers, but Lennon says it would be helpful to see


guidance that specifies what information veterinarians should collect and what


tests they perform on a coronavirus-positive animal to build a consistent and


complete picture of how the virus affects pets.


There’s also room to create more opportunities for owners of pets with the virus


to connect with researchers. In the Mahoneys’ case, they were keen to have


Buddy more closely examined but say that they struggled to connect with


experts. “It highlights a missed connection for people who are interested in


researching this and owners interested in donating samples," Lennon says.


“My pet was like my son,” Allison Mahoney says. “When he was passing away in


front of me, he had blood all over his paws. I cleaned him up before we drove to


the vet and stayed with him in the back seat. I said, ‘I will have your voice heard,


for all our furry friends. Your voice will be heard, Buddy.’ ”


One of those furry friends is Duke, the Mahoney’s surviving dog. Even though he


didn’t get sick, the Mahoneys worry about possible long-term effects of the virus.
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The puppy has been visibly depressed since Buddy died, the Mahoneys say, and


he lies in all of Buddy’s old napping spots.


The Mahoneys hope to pick up Buddy’s ashes this week.
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Specifically, I am requesting a copy of the necropsy, notes, photographs, and email
communications in the custody of USDA APHIS. I am particularly interested in
communications between USDA APHIS and Georgia state veterinarians Dr.
Janemarie Hennebelle, Dr. Robert M. Cobb, Jr., and/or representatives of the
Georgia State Board of Veterinary Medicine and/or representatives of Georgia’s
Department of Public Health and/or Department of Agriculture, the University of
Georgia’s College of Veterinary Medicine and/or its Veterinary Teaching Hospital.

I am seeking records in any format that refer to pathology, necropsy, physical
symptoms/state of health at or around the time the dog was diagnosed
as positive for COVID-19, the dog’s underlying health condition(s),
including the neurological illness, and other relevant health
information about the dog that is now deceased and confirmed by your
department and by the USDA as having contracted COVID-19.

 
3. Dog #3, “Name Unknown” (South Carolina). Tested positive on July 9,

2020.

I am seeking USDA-APHIS records that refer to the dog in South Carolina  cited in this July
16, 2020 press release [https://newsstand.clemson.edu/mediarelations/s-c-dog-confirmed-
with-sars-cov-2-virus-that-causes-covid-19/] issued in conjunction with USDA APHIS. I am
particularly interested in communications about this case between USDA APHIS officials
and South Carolina’s Department of Agriculture, state veterinarian Dr. Boyd
Parr, Clemson Livestock Poultry Health (LPH) unit, S.C.’s Department of
Health and Environmental Control (DHEC), or between USDA and other figures
involved in this case such as veterinary academics.

Note: In response to our records request for the necropsy and other materials, we were
referred to USDA APHIS by South Carolina Department of Agriculture General Counsel
Alden Terry.
“The subject of your request is outside the scope of what we as an agency are charged with.
We do not have custody of any records (tests, pathology, reports) that Dr. Parr could have
used to base his conclusions/analysis on.” Mr. Terry also said that the press release cited
was written in conjunction with USDA APHIS. 
 
Thus, I am seeking records, notes, or additional information in any format that refers to
pathology, necropsy, physical symptoms/state of health at the time the dog was
diagnosed as positive for COVID-19, the dog’s underlying health condition(s),
and other relevant health information about the dog that is now deceased.
 

4. Dog #4 “Name Unknown (North Carolina) tested positive on July 22; died
on August 3

Communications between USDA representatives and North Carolina officials about
this case

I am requesting an opportunity to inspect or obtain copies of public records in the custody
of USDA APHIS that refer to the case involving the dog in the press release issued by
NCDHHS in conjunction with USDA APHIS on August 11, 2020
[https://www.ncdhhs.gov/news/press-releases/north-carolina-has-first-reported-sars-cov-
2-positive-case-dog]. Specifically, I am requesting the necropsy, notes, photographs,
and email communications between USDA representatives and/or CDC and
state veterinarian Dr. Carl Williams and/or current members of the North
Carolina Veterinary Medical Board and/or NCDHHS, any individuals at NC
State Veterinary Hospital.

https://gcc02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fnewsstand.clemson.edu%2Fmediarelations%2Fs-c-dog-confirmed-with-sars-cov-2-virus-that-causes-covid-19%2F&data=02%7C01%7Cemoore%40scda.sc.gov%7C466e17e6c0ca47a66ef308d83eec6b3f%7Ce9f8d01480d84f27b0d6c3d6c085fcdd%7C1%7C1%7C637328532421816152&sdata=UuZ0%2FueNvvR0BjllC%2F8rY3JDSSg7eXHlktn0AWMXUvM%3D&reserved=0
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
request is for urgent news gathering purposes.   If there are any fees for searching or
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
under the law, please supply those that are required to be disclosed under FOIA. If you deny
any or all of this request, please cite each specific exemption you have determined justifies
the refusal to release the information and notify me of the appeal procedures available to
me under the law.
 
Thank you for considering my request.
 
Sincerely,
Emily Brill
 
 
Emily J. Brill
Editor and Publisher
The Canine Review
https://www.thecaninereview.com
Follow TCR on Twitter
Like TCR on Facebook
917-297-3537
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